IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

MAR 08 2016

SC Court of Appeals

The Honorable Letitia Verdin, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2015-001720

Kevin Watkins.....	Appellant,
v.	
Jason Hall Jr., Jason Hall Sr., Martha Hall, and J.S. Hall Inc.,.....	Defendants,
Of Which J.S. Hall Inc. is the.....	Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Joshua T. Hawkins
The J.T. Hawkins Law Firm, LLC
1225 South Church Street
Greenville, South Carolina 29605
Tel: (864) 275-8142
Fax: (864) 752-8142
Attorney for Appellant Kevin Watkins

Other Counsel of Record:

Courtney Atkinson
Metcalf & Atkinson, LLC
9 Toy Street

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. DID THE APPELLANT PLEAD VICARIOUS LIABILITY FOR THE TORTS OF THE RESPONDENT'S EMPLOYEE?
2. DID THE APPELLANT ADEQUATELY PLEAD NEGLIGENT HIRING AND SUPERVISION?
3. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN APPLYING RULE 23 *SCRCP* INSTEAD OF RULE 8 TO THE PLEADINGS IN THIS ACTION?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal of the Circuit Court's ruling, which granted J.S. Hall, Inc.'s motion to dismiss. The plaintiff filed a summons and complaint on March 28, 2014, which did not name J.S. Hall, Inc. ("the respondent") as a defendant. Kevin Watkins ("the appellant") brought the action after the respondent's employee, Jason Hall, Jr., shot him on January 28, 2014. As the appellant conducted discovery, and as other issues arose, the complaint was amended three times to add specific language and additional parties, including the respondent. The pleading related to this appeal is the Third Amended Complaint.

When the summons and complaint were filed, the appellant was unaware that Jason Hall, Jr. was an employee of J.S. Hall, Inc., and that he was acting in the scope and course of his employment with J.S. Hall, Inc. when he shot the appellant. During his deposition, the shooter/employee invoked his Fifth Amendment right, refusing to answer several questions, but he did testify that he is "always on call," and that his J.S. Hall, Inc. duties include acting as property manager for the property where pertinent shooting took place. (R. p. 59, lines 8-21, p. 56, line 23). The shooter/employee went on to testify that he receives J.S. Hall, Inc. paychecks for his duties and that he lives in a house at a reduced rent in exchange for acting as property manager. (R. p. 69, lines 4-8, p. 48, lines 2-13, p. 68, lines 2-13, p. 57, lines 3-6). The shooter/employee's father, Jason Hall, Sr., owns J.S. Hall, Inc. (R. p. 48, lines 9-21). The house where the shooter/employee lives is owned by his mother, who seems to be involved in and "make[s] decisions" for J.S. Hall, Inc., as alleged in the pleadings. (R. p. 57, lines 16-25, pp. 7-10).

When the appellant discovered these facts, naturally, he amended the complaint to add J.S. Hall, Inc. as a defendant since the company is vicariously liable for its employees' acts in the scope and course of employment. The respondent filed a motion to dismiss on the pleadings, relying, in part, on Rule 23(b)(1) *SCRCP*. (R. p. 86, p. 26, lines 5-19). At the hearing, the appellant argued that Rule 8 *SCRCP*, and not rule 23, governs the pleading requirements applicable to the claims brought by the appellant. (R. p. 26, lines 5-19). The appellant also argued that, pursuant to Rule 8, the respondent should not be dismissed as a defendant. (R. p. 26, lines 12-19).

The Court questioned the appellant's counsel about the allegations that the shooter/employee had acted in his capacity as an employee when he shot the appellant. (R. p. 27,

lines 10-22). Counsel for the appellant argued that the respondent's owner hired the shooter/employee, provided him with a gun, put him in a house to work as caretaker, and the shooter/employee shot people as a result. (R. p. 28, lines 15-19). Counsel for the appellant further argued that as long as allegations are properly set forth under Rule 8, a motion to dismiss must be denied, and that if the respondent wished to file a summary judgment motion at a later date, a different analysis would be required at that time. (R. p. 29, lines 4-13).

After hearing the motion, the Court took the matter under advisement. (R. p. 31, lines 24-25, p. 32, line 1). Shortly after the hearing and before a ruling was issued, the appellant sent an email to the Court and the respondent's counsel, providing case law supporting the appellant's position. (R. p. 79). On June 19, 2015, the Court entered an Order dismissing the respondent from the lawsuit. (R. p. 1). The appellant filed a motion to reconsider on June 25, 2015. (R. p. 81). On July 16, 2015, the Court denied the motion to reconsider without a hearing. (R. p. 3). On August 10, 2015, the appellant mailed his notice of appeal for filing.

FACTS

On January 28, 2014, the appellant walked with his friends along West Marion Road in the Berea area of Greenville, South Carolina. The appellant's route took him in front of the house containing Jason Hall, Jr, an employee of the respondent. As the appellant passed the house, Jason Hall, Jr. exited the home with his father's firearm, stood on the porch of the house, and began firing at the appellant and his companions.

Using the gun owned by his father (owner of J.S. Hall, Inc.), and standing on the porch of the home owned by his mother, the respondent shot the appellant five times and shot his companion, Robert Bankston, once, leaving the victims severely injured. The appellant and Mr. Bankston were taken to Greenville Memorial Hospital, where they were treated for their injuries. (R. p. 7).

The shooter/employee is employed by the respondent to manage the property owned by his mother and other properties owned by defendants in the underlying lawsuit. (R. p. 57, lines 3-6, p. 58, lines 10-25, p. 59, lines 1-16, R. pp. 6-9). Both Jason Hall, Sr. and Martha Hall appear to be involved in the decision-making and hiring for J.S. Hall, Inc. (R. p. 57, lines 16-25, pp. 7-10). The respondent receives J.S. Hall, Inc. paychecks for his work as a caretaker of the property owned by his mother (where the shooting took place) and other properties. (R. p. 67, lines 21-25, p. 68, lines 1-25, p. 69, lines 1-14). The shooter/employee continues to work as an employee of J.S. Hall, Inc. (R. p. 49, lines 19-24).

Arguments

1. BECAUSE THE PLEADINGS STATE JASON HALL, JR. ACTED IN HIS CAPACITY AS A J.S. HALL, INC. EMPLOYMEE WHEN HE SHOT THE APPELLANT, THE CIRCUIT COURT SHOULD HAVE DENIED J.S. HALL, INC.'S MOTION TO DISMISS ON THE PLEADINGS.

The respondent bases its Rule 12(b)(6) *SCRPC* motion to dismiss on the assertion that the appellant has not stated that the shooter/employee acted in his capacity as a J.S. Hall, Inc. employee when he shot the appellant. (R. p. 17, lines 3-18). However, the appellant's pleadings state "Hall, Jr. is an employee of Hall, Inc. and works as the full time care-taker of the defendants' properties as a condition of being able to reside in a home owned by one or more of the defendants. In addition, Hall, Jr. receives monetary compensation for his duties as caretaker..." (R. p. 7). The pleadings further state "Hall, Jr. acted within his capacity as caretaker [for] the property owned by one or more of the defendants and Hall, Sr., Hall, Inc. and Martha Hall acted vicariously through Hall, Jr." (R. p. 7). The pleadings describe the shooting and the shooter/employee's employment with J.S. Hall, Inc. in the "FACTUAL BACKGROUND" section of the pleadings, and those facts are incorporated by reference into each cause of action. This satisfies the "short and plain statement of the facts" requirement of Rule 8, *SCRPC*. "[I]f the facts alleged and inferences therefrom would entitle the plaintiff to any relief on any theory," a motion to dismiss should be denied. *Stiles v. Onorato*, 318 S.C. 297, 457 S.E.2d 601 (1995).

At the hearing on this matter, the respondent's counsel took the position that the shooter/employee quit working for the company in 2007, which is outside of the pleadings. (R. p. 30, lines 2-7). Although Courts do not look to information outside of the pleadings when considering a motion to dismiss, the appellant addressed the respondent's statement during the hearing, informing the Court that the shooter/employee testified he is still employed with the respondent, that he is caretaker for the property where the shooting took place, that he is always on duty, and that J.S. Hall, Inc. writes his paychecks for his duties as caretaker. (R. p. 49, lines 19-24, p. 56, lines 23-24, p. 59, lines 1-16, p. 69, line 8).

The appellant drafted the Third Amended Complaint to include information gleaned from the shooter/employee's testimony. If considered to be true, the appellant's statement that shooter/employee shot the appellant while acting as the respondent's employee defeats the respondent's motion to dismiss. "Generally, in considering a 12(b)(6) motion, the court must base its ruling solely upon allegations set forth on the face of the complaint." *Baird v. Charleston*

County, 713 S.E.2d 604 (2011); *Doe v. Greenville County Sch. Dist.*, 651 S.E.2d 305, 307 (2007). “The 12(b)(6) motion may not be sustained if the facts alleged and inferences therefrom would entitle the plaintiff to any relief on any theory.” *Stiles v. Onorato*, 318 S.C. 297, 457 S.E.2d 601 (1995); *Toussaint v. Ham*, 292 S.C. 415, 357 S.E.2d 8 (1987). The pleadings unambiguously state the shooter/employee acted in the scope and course of his employment when he shot the appellant, and at least an inference can be drawn that the shooter was attempting to protect the property within his capacity as property manager, since the shooter/employee lives in the house where the shooting occurred.

The respondent’s motion to dismiss should be denied because the pleadings entitle the plaintiff to relief on not just one, but several theories. “The motion cannot be sustained if the facts alleged and the inferences reasonably deducible therefrom would entitle the plaintiff to any relief on any theory of the case.” *Dye v. Gainey*, 320 S.C. 65, 463 S.E.2d 97 (Ct.App.1995). “The question is whether in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, and with every reasonable doubt resolved in her behalf, the complaint states any valid claim for relief. The cause of action should not be struck merely because the court doubts the plaintiff will prevail in the action.” *Id.* at 68, 463 S.E.2d at 99.

At the hearing, the respondent’s counsel stated “at no point does it say that was within the course and scope of his employment with the corporate defendants.” (R. p. 30, lines 17-20). The appellant pointed out that “paragraph 20 says Hall, Jr. acted within his capacity as caretaker [for the] property owned by one or more of the defendants [and] Hall, Sr., Hall Incorporated, and Martha Hall acted vicariously through the...” shooter/employee. (R. p. 31, lines 5-8). The respondent’s counsel stated “Absolutely nothing in the third amended complaint alleges he was doing anything in the course and scope of his alleged employment with J.S. Hall Inc...” when the respondent’s employee shot the plaintiff. (R. p. 17 line 15-18). However, the pleadings contain several paragraphs clearly stating allegations that the employee/shooter acted within the scope and course of his employment when he shot the appellant:

12. Hall, Jr. is an employee of Hall, Inc. and works as the full time care-taker of the defendants’ properties as a condition of being able to reside in a home owned by one or more of the defendants. In addition, Hall, Jr. receives monetary compensation for his duties as caretaker for Hall, Sr.’s properties.
13. Hall, Jr.’s paychecks for his caretaker duties are issued by Hall, Inc. and, upon information and belief, are signed by Hall, Sr.

20. Hall, Jr. acted within his capacity as caretaker the property owned by one or more of the defendants and Hall, Sr., Hall, Inc. and Martha Hall acted vicariously through Hall, Jr.
21. Hall, Sr., Hall, Inc. and Martha Hall endorsed and ratified Hall, Jr.'s actions.
22. Hall, Sr., Hall, Inc. and Martha Hall were negligent and/or reckless by hiring Hall, Jr., who injured the plaintiff by acting recklessly or through mental derangement.
23. Hall, Sr., Hall, Inc. and Martha Hall knew or should have known of Hall, Jr.'s dangerous propensities.
24. During all times described herein, Hall, Sr. and possibly Martha Hall acted as directors of J.S. Hall, Inc., and these defendants acted vicariously through Hall, Jr.
26. ... Hall, Sr., Hall, Inc. and Martha Hall owed a duty to avoid hiring dangerous employees and other duties as will be shown through discovery and at trial.
37. Hall, Sr., and/or Martha Hall as owners of the property in question and/or exert dominion and control of it and one or both of them are shareholders of Hall, Inc. the defendants breached their duty by hiring and/or failing to properly supervise Hall, Jr.

When questioned about whether the shooter/employee was working when he shot the appellant, counsel for the appellant responded "Yes. Yes, Your Honor. He's testified that he is always on-call; he's never off-duty. I asked him about it. That's why I wrote the complaint the way I did. He was acting in the scope and course of his employment. He's always on duty." (R. p. 27, line 23-25, p. 28, lines 1-3). The appellant's statements to the Court are consistent with the pleadings. (R. p. 7). The appellant's counsel further argued "...you have got a duty to hire people that are not crazy. If anybody knows his level of craziness it's his parents. They have known him his whole life. They put him in a house with a gun and he used the gun to shoot people." (R. p. 28, lines 15-19). This statement is also consistent with the pleadings. (R. pp. 7-9, also see R. p. 89).

The appellant's counsel also argued "[i]f we assume...[the shooter/employee acted through his employment]...as it's alleged, then we've met the burden to survive a motion to dismiss. I mean we just simply have because we allege he was acting in the scope and course of his employment when he shot these people." (R. p. 29, lines 4-9).

Rule 8 *SCRPC* requires little of the pleader; only “a short and plain” statement of facts that allows a plaintiff to recover under the law. The “FACTUAL BACKGROUND” section of the pleadings sets forth fairly detailed facts about the shooting. There are also fairly detailed facts about the shooter/employee’s job and duties, accompanied by allegations that he acted through his employment when he shot the appellant. These facts and allegations are assumed to be true, and the appellant could recover under the law, based on these facts and allegations. The appellant’s motion to dismiss, therefore, should have been dismissed as a matter of law.

2. BECAUSE THE PLAINTIFF HAS ADEQUATELY PLED NEGLIGENT HIRING AND SUPERVISION, J.S. HALL, INC. SHOULD NOT HAVE BEEN DISMISSED.

The appellant need not *prove* J.S. Hall, Inc. negligently hired or supervised its employee in order to survive a motion to dismiss on the pleadings. The appellant must merely set forth a “short and plain statement,” in compliance with Rule 8 *SCRPC*. The appellant has set forth such a statement in the pleadings, and for that reason, the Circuit Court should have denied the respondent’s motion to dismiss.

Not only has the appellant alleged the respondent was negligent in hiring and supervising the shooter/employee, but also has specifically stated that the shooter/employee is caretaker of the property at issue, that he is employed for that job by J.S. Hall, Inc. and that he acted in his capacity as caretaker of the properties at issue. (R. pp. 7-9). Although the property where the respondent’s employee shot the appellant is titled in the name of Martha Hall (the shooter/employee’s mother), it is clear from the pleadings that part of the shooter/employee’s job is caring for that property and that Martha Hall is involved in the respondent’s hiring, including the hiring of shooter/employee. (R. p. 7, see also R. p. 57, lines 16-21). Since the appellant stated that J.S. Hall, Inc. and the people running the company and making all hiring decisions “knew or should have known of [the shooter/employee’s] dangerous propensities,” the Rule 8 threshold has been satisfied, and the respondent’s motion to dismiss should have been denied. (R. p. 7).

The respondent’s counsel stated to the Court that the appellant “failed to allege facts to show that the corporate defendant had any knowledge of the...danger posed by Jason Hall.” (R. p. 19, lines 1-4). However, the pleadings state that the shooter/employee’s parents make business decisions for J.S. Hall, Inc. and do the hiring. (R. pp. 7-9). The pleadings also state that the shooter/employee’s parents (who hire for and manage J.S. Hall, Inc.) had actual or

constructive knowledge of the shooter/employee's dangers. (R. p. 7). Although these statements satisfy Rule 8 *SCRCP*, the respondent contends the pleadings must be more detailed and "particularized." (R. p. 86). As discussed more fully below, the respondent seems to rely on Rule 23, but again, Rule 8 is applicable here, and the pleadings meet the mandates of Rule 8.

Not only facts, but also *inferences* must be weighed in the nonmoving party's favor when considering a motion to dismiss. *Dye v. Gainey*, 320 S.C. 65, 463 S.E.2d 97 (Ct.App.1995). When facts and inferences "would entitle the plaintiff to any relief on any theory" a motion to dismiss "cannot be sustained." *Id.* Inferences stemming from the familial relationship between the shooter and the respondent's managers should be weighed in the appellant's favor, and there is certainly an inference that the shooter/employee's parents are in the best position to know of his dangerous propensities and the dangers arising from furnishing him with a firearm.

The pleadings state the managers of J.S. Hall, Inc. "...had a duty to avoid hiring unstable, mentally deranged or dangerous persons to reside on and care for..." the property where the respondent's employee shot the appellant, and that they "...had a duty to properly supervise..." the employee. (R. p. 9). The pleadings also state the parents of the shooter/employee "... are shareholders of Hall, Inc..." and that the shareholders of J.S. Hall, Inc. "...breached their duty by hiring and/or failing to properly supervise Hall, Jr." (R. p. 9).

The respondent has admitted that it never performed a background check before hiring the shooter/employee and that the employee/shooter was never reprimanded for his actions. (R. p. 90). These facts are consistent with the pleadings and the appellant's claim for negligent hiring and supervision.

As stated above, the appellant's counsel argued to the Court that the pleadings are drafted and amended as they are, in part, because of the shooter/employee's deposition testimony. In the shooter/employee's deposition, counsel for the appellant learned that the shooter/employee "still gets a check from J.S. Hall Incorporated. [The owner of J.S. Hall, Inc.]... signs it...[J.S. Hall, Inc. and its managers]...entrust the property to [the shooter/employee] and he is the caretaker." (R. p. 25, lines 2-5). The appellant's counsel also informed the Court that the shooter/employee's father likely owned the firearm used to shoot the appellant. (R. p. 25, line 20). Since the hearing, the appellant has verified through discovery that the owner of J.S. Hall, Inc., and the same man responsible for hiring and supervising the shooter/employee, does, in fact, own the firearm used by the shooter/employee to shoot the appellant. (R. p. 89). The

pleadings provide for such a discovery: “Hall, Inc...owed a duty to avoid hiring dangerous employees *and other duties as will be shown through discovery* and at trial.” (R. p. 8). More importantly, the pleadings are fairly detailed as to the appellant’s acts, listing several ways the respondent was negligent, such as “hiring dangerous employees...” (R. p. 8).

The pleadings contain protective language for the very purpose of surviving a motion to dismiss. The appellant has, in fact, learned through discovery that the owner of J.S. Hall, Inc. furnished the shooter/employee with the very firearm used to shoot the appellant, and stored the firearm at a property managed and inhabited by the employee/shooter. At a minimum, those facts allow a negligent hiring and supervision claim to survive a motion to dismiss.

During the hearing, the appellant drew the Court’s attention to the fact that the respondent made real property and a firearm available to the shooter/employee, resulting in the serious injuries described in the pleadings. (R. p. 25, line 23). Again, not only were the real property and firearm at issue furnished by the respondent, but according to the shooter/employee’s own testimony, he *had* to have been on duty when he shot the appellant, a fact which is unambiguous on the face of the pleadings. (R. p. 7). “The motion cannot be sustained if facts alleged in the complaint and inferences reasonably deducible therefrom would entitle plaintiff to any relief on any theory of the case.” *Brown v. Leverette*, 353 S.E.2d 697 (1987); *Blandon v. Coleman*, 285 S.C. 472, 330 S.E.2d 298 (1985); and *Glass v. Glass*, 276 S.C. 625, 281 S.E.2d 221 (1981).

The employee of J.S. Hall, Inc. was on duty when he shot the appellant, working at a position given to him by managers of J.S. Hall, Inc. He shot the appellant with a firearm owned by the respondent’s owner and stored at a property the respondent hired him to manage. Inferences can be drawn related to the shooter/employee’s familial relationship with managers of the respondent (the shooter/employee’s parents) and the managers’ actual or constructive knowledge of the danger surrounding him. For all of these reasons, the respondent should not be dismissed based on the appellant’s negligent hiring and supervision claim.

3. RULE 8 SCRPC, AND NOT RULE 23, DETERMINES THE ADEQUACY OF PLEADINGS FOR PURPOSES OF THE RESPONDENT’S MOTION TO DISMISS.

Rule 8 *SCRPC* requires a “short and plain statement of the facts.” Liberal rules as to amendment throughout enable the parties to conform the pleadings to the facts and relief

demanded, as they develop. (R. p. 93). The respondent filed its motion to dismiss, relying, in part, on its position that the appellant did not plead “particularized facts” supporting the respondent’s vicarious liability for its employee’s tortious conduct. (R. p. 86). A case relied on and quoted by the respondent in support of its motion to dismiss is *Carolina First Corp. v. Whittle*, 539 S.E.2d 402. In addition to the language quoted by the respondent, *Carolina First* also contains the following language: “Rule 23 is a departure from the more liberal pleading requirements of Rule 8, SCRCF, in that it requires particularized allegations.” *Id.* The word “departure” is indicative of the fact that Rule 23 requires more detailed pleading than what is required by Rule 8, which governs the pleadings related to the appellants underlying lawsuit.


Rule 23(b)(1) is applicable only to shareholder derivative actions, and the respondent’s reliance on *Carolina First* and Rule 23 is misplaced. Rule 8 governs the pleadings in this case, and Rule 8 *does not* require particularized facts. It is not necessary that the appellant prove his case on the face of his pleadings, but only that he set forth a “short and plain statement of the facts.” Rule 8 SCRCF.

The appellant has set forth a statement of the facts which is short and plain, and which comports with the mandates of Rule 8 SCRCF. For that reason, Rule 8 SCRCF, and not Rule 23 should be applied to the pleadings in this case, and the respondent’s motion to dismiss should have been denied.

CONCLUSION

The appellant has stated in his pleadings that the respondent's employee acted in his capacity as an employee when he shot the appellant. The appellant has stated in his pleadings that the respondent knew of its employee's dangerous nature, and that the respondent was negligent in hiring and supervising its employee. Finally, the appellant's pleadings are governed by Rule 8 *SCRCP* and not Rule 23. For the foregoing reasons, the appellant respectfully requests that the Appellate Court reverse the Circuit Court's ruling.