IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Letitia Verdin, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED
RECEIVED
MAR 18 2016
SC Court of Appeals
SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No.: 2015-001720

Kevin Watkins..... Appellant,
v.
Jason Hall Jr., Jason Hall Sr., Martha Hall, and J.S. Hall Inc.,..... Defendants,
Of Which J.S. Hall Inc. is the..... Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Courtney C. Atkinson
Metcalf & Atkinson, LLC
9 Toy Street
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 214-2319
Attorney for Respondent J.S. Hall, Inc.

Other Counsel of record:
Joshua T. Hawkins
The J.T. Hawkins Law Firm, LLC
1225 S. Church Street

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY RULED THAT APPELLANT FAILED TO ADEQUATELY PLEAD HIS CLAIM FOR VICARIOUS LIABILITY.

Appellant argues that the trial court erred in granting Respondent's Motion to Dismiss on grounds that Appellant failed to properly plead a claim for vicarious liability against Respondent as the alleged employer of Hall, Jr. because Appellant's Third Party Complaint stated the following: (1) "Hall, Jr. is an employee of (Respondent);" (2) Hall, Jr. is allowed to live in the home where the shooting took place in exchange for his employment with Respondent as a caretaker of that property²; and (3) "Hall, Jr. acted within his capacity as caretaker [for] the property owned by one or more of the defendants³ and Hall, Sr., (Respondent) and Martha Hall acted vicariously through Hall, Jr." Specifically, Appellant argues that merely stating that Hall, Jr. was employee of Respondent, that Hall, Jr. was allowed to live in his residence as a part of said employment with Respondent and that, as a result, Respondent acted vicariously through Hall, Jr. is sufficient to allege a causes of action.

Despite Appellant's argument, however, and even if all such allegations contained in Appellant's Third Party Complaint are taken as true, said allegations alone are insufficient to state a cause of action against Respondent for vicarious liability as Hall's alleged employer under the theory of respondeat superior. While, the doctrine of respondeat superior provides that an employer may be held vicariously liable for the tortious acts of an employee, such liability may only be found "*when those acts occur in the course and scope of the employee's employment.*"

² Respondent's sole business is the drafting and review of steel drawings for use in architecture and Hall, Jr.'s employment therewith, which ended in 2003 or 2004 was within that same scope. (R. p. 84) Respondent owns no properties and has never employed any individual as a caretaker of property belonging to others. (R. p. 87)

³ The home is solely owned by Martha Hall, who is neither an owner nor officer of Respondent. (R. p. 17, lines 17-23, p. 31, lines 18-22, and p. 83.)

James v. Kelly Trucking Co., 377 S.C. 628, 631, 661 S.E.2d 329, 330 (2008) (emphasis added). Such liability is not predicated on the negligence of the employer, but upon the acts of the employee. *Id.* The focus thus is not on whether or not a third party is the employer of the tortfeasor, but rather the circumstances under which the tortfeasor's acts were committed and whether or not said acts were committed in the furtherance of his employment. *Id.*

Regardless, and beyond just merely alleging employment with Respondent, Appellant's Third Party Complaint fails entirely to factually allege that the shooting by Hall Jr. occurred within the course and scope of his alleged employment with Respondent. Instead, Appellant alleges only that Hall Jr. was at his residence and exited that residence at the time of the shooting without any allegation whatsoever that said shooting was committed in furtherance of Hall, Jr.'s alleged employment with Respondent. (R. p. 6, ¶ 10 and p. 7, ¶¶ 15-16.) Even read in the light most favorable to Appellant, this fails to meet Appellant's burden of alleging that Hall, Jr. was acting within the course and scope of his alleged employment with Respondent *at the time of the shooting* such that Respondent is vicariously liable therefore under a theory of respondeat superior and the Court is not required to make inferences not supported by the allegations. (R. p. 17, lines 10-21, p. 27, lines 10-20, p. 28, line 20 - p. 29, line 1, and p. 30, lines 8-20.) Accordingly, the trial court did not err in dismissing Appellant's claims against Respondent for failure to allege facts sufficient to impose vicarious liability on Respondent pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure.

II. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY RULED THAT APPELLANT FAILED TO ADEQUATELY PLEAD HIS CLAIM FOR NEGLIGENT HIRING AND SUPERVISION.

Appellant also argues that the trial court erred in granting Respondent's Motion to Dismiss on grounds that Appellant failed to properly plead a claim for negligent hiring and

supervision against Respondent as the alleged employer of Hall, Jr. because Appellant's Third Party Complaint contains the following allegations: (1) Hall, Jr. is employed by Respondent; (2) Hall, Jr. is the alleged "caretaker" of the home that is his personal residence; (3) Hall, Jr.'s mother Martha Hall, the owner of the home at issue, was involved in hiring Hall, Jr. to care for the house; and (4) the people making hiring decisions for the caretaker of the house "knew or should have known of Hall, Jr.'s dangerous propensities." Based thereon, Appellant argues that his pleading "threshold has been satisfied" in regard to his claim for direct liability on the part of Respondent as the alleged employer of Hall, Jr. under Appellant's claim for negligent hiring and supervision.

Even if all such allegations are taken as true for purposes of Respondent's Motion to Dismiss, Appellant still failed to meet his burden of alleging direct liability on the part of the Respondent pursuant to Appellant's claim for negligent hiring and supervision. In regard thereto, the South Carolina Supreme Court has explained that such liability may be properly found against an employer "(i)n circumstances where an employer knew or should have known that its employment of a specific person created an undue risk of harm to the public." *James v. Kelly Trucking Co.*, 377 S.C. 628, 631, 661 S.E.2d 329, 330 (2008). Unlike a claim brought under a theory of respondeat superior, the employer's liability under a claim for negligent hiring and supervision does not rest on the negligence of another, but on the employer's own negligence. *Id.* Regardless, the South Carolina Supreme Court has been clear that such liability only exists when the employer "knew or should have known" that its employment of an individual employee "created an undue risk of harm to the public." *Id.*

Appellant's Third Amended Complaint fails to allege facts sufficient to state a cause of action for negligent hiring and supervision against Respondent as the alleged employer of Hall,

Jr. because there are absolutely no facts alleged therein, even when read in the light most favorable to the Appellant, from which it can be reasonably inferred that Respondent knew or should have known that its alleged employment of Hall, Jr. posed any undue risk to the public. (R. p. 17, line 22-p. 18, line 14, and pp. 85-86.) Instead of alleging any such facts, Appellant's Third Amended Complaint merely contains an insufficient conclusory statement that "(Respondent)... knew or should have known of Hall, Jr.'s dangerous propensities." (R. p. 7, ¶ 23.) However, conclusory statements alone without actual facts being alleged in support thereof are insufficient to survive a motion for judgment on the pleadings. *See Jones v. Gilstrap*, 288 S.C. 525, 528, 343 S.E.2d 646, 648 (Ct. App. 1986) (noting that allegations that are conclusory only are demurrable).

Further, the Court is not required to make inferences not supported by the allegations, and the mere fact that Respondent's owner is Hall, Jr.'s father does not support an inference that Respondent knew or should have known that Hall, Jr. posed any danger to the public absent some allegation regarding past incidents of dangerous conduct on the part of Hall, Jr. that were known to either Respondent or its owner, Hall, Sr. Accordingly, and because Appellant's Third Party Complaint fails to allege any actual facts from which it can be reasonably inferred that Respondent had any knowledge of any danger posed to the public by Hall, Jr., the trial court properly granted Respondent's Motion to Dismiss in regard to Appellant's claim against Respondent for negligent hiring and supervision.

III. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT BASE ITS RULING ON RULE 8.

Appellant also argues that the trial court's grant of Respondent's Motion to Dismiss was erroneous because the trial court applied the wrong standard in ruling on Respondent's Motion to Dismiss. Specifically, Appellant seems to imply that the trial court granted Respondent's

Motion by applying Rule 23, SCRC⁴, which Appellant asserts to be the incorrect standard for motions to dismiss. Instead, Appellant argues that Rule 8, SCRC is the correct standard that should have been applied and that the trial court erred in not applying that standard so as to deny the Respondent's Motion to Dismiss.

Regardless, absolutely nothing in the Court's June 29, 2015 Order in any way notes or otherwise even implies that the trial court's ruling on Respondent's Motion to Dismiss was based on an application of Rule 23. Instead, the trial court's June 29, 2015 Order is a short form order that states only that "(t)his matter came before the Court on a Motion to Dismiss submitted by Defendants J.S. Hall, Inc., Jason Hall, Sr., and Martha Hall...(and) (b)ased on the pleadings and the arguments of the parties, the Court hereby GRANTS the Motion with respect to Defendant J.S. Hall, Inc." (R. p. 1) Accordingly, and since there is no indication whatsoever that the trial court applied Rule 23 instead of Rule 8 in ruling on Respondent's Motion to Dismiss, Appellant's argument for reversal based on the trial court allegedly basing its ruling on Rule 23 is entirely without merit. Additionally, the mere fact that Rule 23 was addressed in a case inadvertently cited by Respondent is irrelevant and does not form the basis for reversal of the trial court's dismissal of Appellant's claims against Respondent.

ADDITIONAL SUPPORTING GROUND TO AFFIRM

As noted above, the trial court's June 29, 2015 Order is a short form order that states only that "(t)his matter came before the Court on a Motion to Dismiss submitted by Defendants J.S. Hall, Inc., Jason Hall, Sr., and Martha Hall...(and) (b)ased on the pleadings and the arguments of the parties, the Court hereby GRANTS the Motion with respect to Defendant J.S. Hall, Inc." (R.